FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/2/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101948-3

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/2/2023 12:59 PM

No. 83604-8 (consolidated with 83900-4)

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

CFD FUNDING I, LLC, et al., Plaintiffs,

v.

STANLEY XU and NANLING CHEN, Appellants and Cross-Respondents; LONGWELL PARKRIDGE, LLC, et al., Defendants; and JUDGMENT SERVICES, LLC, as assignee of Sterling Savings Bank, Respondent and Cross-Appellant.

STERLING SAVINGS BANK, Plaintiff,

v.

I.	INTRODUCTION			
II.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS2			
III.	CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 3			
IV.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW			
V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
VI.	ARGUMENT			
VII.	CONCLUSION AND CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE			
CER	TIFICATE OF SERVICE			
APPENDIX				

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
Cases
Fruehauf Trailer Co. v. Chandler, 67 Wn.2d 704, 409 P.2d 651 (1966)passim
<i>Kitsap County Credit Bureau, Inc. v. Richards</i> , 52 Wn.2d 381, 325 P.2d 292 (1958)
McChord Credit Union v. Parrish, 61 Wn. App. 8, 809 P.2d 759 (1991)14
MGIC Financial Corp. v. H.A. Briggs Co., 24 Wn. App. 1, 600 P.2d 573 (1979)14
Rekhter v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 180 Wn.2d 102, 323 P.3d 1036 (2014)27
Security State Bank v. Burk, 100 Wn. App. 94, 995 P.2d 1272 (2000)
Serpanok Constr., Inc. v. Point Ruston, LLC, 19 Wn. App. 2d 237, 495 P.3d 271 (2021)
Union Bank, N.A. v. Blanchard, 194 Wn. App. 340, 378 P.3d 191 (2016)
Statutes and Other Authorities
RCW 4.22
Restatement (First) of Security § 122
Restatement (Third) of Suretyship & Guaranty § 39 12, 13, 15, 20

I. INTRODUCTION

The Court should accept review in this case because the decision of the court of appeals cannot be reconciled with other decisions of that court, and of this Court, holding that a guarantor is entitled to credit for value received by the creditor from the principal obligor on account of the underlying obligation.

If the opinion of the court of appeals is allowed to stand, then creditors will routinely be able to collect windfalls from debtors, affecting the public interest. All those creditors will need to do is settle with their principal obligors for some form of non-cash consideration, then sue the guarantors for the full amount of the obligations without giving the guarantors any credit for the value of what they have received. That is because, according to the court of appeals, "even if Sterling [the creditor] released Parkridge [the principal obligor] of the obligation to pay the loan deficiency owing under the promissory note, that

release did not discharge Xu's obligations as guarantor under the separate personal guaranty." App'x 14.

Fortunately, that is not the law in Washington. This Court does not countenance windfalls or double recoveries. When a creditor receives value on account of an obligation in exchange for a release, that creditor must not try to collect the entire amount of the obligation from guarantors. They are entitled to credit for consideration collected by the creditor from whatever source and in whatever form. The Court should accept review to make that clear by reversing the court of appeals in this case.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Stanley Xu and Nanling Chen petition the Washington

Supreme Court to accept review of the decision of the court of appeals terminating review that is designated in Section III of this petition.

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

This Court should review the opinion of the court of appeals dated April 3, 2023. A copy of the opinion is in the appendix at pages A-1 through A-25.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A creditor is only entitled to one performance, so the guarantors of a debt are discharged from their obligations to the extent of the value of consideration received by the creditor from the principal obligor. In this case, a creditor (Sterling) agreed to dismiss its claims against the principal obligor (Parkridge) in exchange for Parkridge's release of \$3,742,339.72 in claims against Sterling. Should Parkridge's guarantors, Stanley Xu and Nanling Chen, be discharged from their obligation to pay a judgment for \$676,217.42 to Sterling because Sterling later received \$3,742,339.72 in value from Parkridge in exchange for dismissing claims against Parkridge?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Parkridge Property, L.L.C. borrowed \$18 million from Sterling Savings Bank. CP 178, 187. Stanley Xu arranged for the loan. CP 178. Xu and his wife, Nanling Chen, also guaranteed Parkridge's obligations to Sterling. CP 642. Under that guarantee, Xu and Chen promised to pay "all obligations of the Borrower now or hereafter existing under the Loan Documents" and "all sums for which Borrower is now or hereafter liable to Lender." CP 642. Xu and Chen did not promise that they would pay anything to Sterling if Parkridge owed no obligations to Sterling. CP 642. Nor did they promise Sterling that they would pay more than what Parkridge owed to Sterling. CP 642.

A few months later, Parkridge and one of its members, CFD Funding I, L.L.C., sued Xu, Chen, and Sterling, arguing that the loan was void because Xu lacked authority to bind Parkridge without CFD's consent. CP 1. Sterling then filed

cross-claims against Xu, Chen, and Parkridge for the remaining balance of the loan. CP 108. Sterling argued that Parkridge remained liable as the principal obligor and that Xu and Chen were liable to Sterling under their guarantee. CP 133, 137–38.

The trial court granted summary judgment for Sterling on its claims for breach of guarantee and fraud against Xu and Chen. CP 166. The order awarded Sterling \$676,217.42, plus attorneys' fees in an amount to be determined separately. CP 168. There is no evidence that Sterling ever asked the trial court to decide the amount of fees, however, and Sterling's successor does not now claim that this order, or another order, awarded any. *See* CP 243.

The order also did not dispose of the claims by Parkridge against Sterling or by Sterling against Parkridge. CP 166–68.

Instead, as Parkridge and Sterling prepared for trial, they stipulated to the entry of judgment on Sterling's counterclaim against Parkridge. CP 170. They agreed, and the court ordered, that if the court "finds in favor of Parkridge on its claim against

Sterling and enters judgment for Parkridge, the Court will dismiss Sterling's counterclaim against Parkridge and Parkridge releases Sterling from any further liability beyond its present title coverage." CP 171.

Parkridge's stipulation delivered significant value to
Sterling. It meant that Sterling could never be liable to
Parkridge "beyond its present title coverage" no matter the
outcome of trial. CP 171. Parkridge's waiver ended up being
worth \$3,742,339.72 to Sterling because that was the amount of
the judgment that the trial court entered in Parkridge's favor
after a trial on the merits. CP 219. Sterling never had to pay a
penny because, in accordance with its stipulation with
Parkridge, Sterling was not liable for anything beyond its title
coverage. CP 171. When Parkridge finally received satisfaction
on its judgment against Sterling in 2016, the Chicago Title
Insurance Company paid, not Sterling. CP 463:2–4.

Chicago Title later tried to seek recompense from Xu and Chen in a separate proceeding. CP 294. The court in that case

dismissed Chicago Title's claims because they were precluded by the outcome of the prior litigation. CP 296. The court did not need to decide—and did not decide—whether Xu and Chen's liability from the prior litigation had been discharged by subsequent events, such the \$3,742,339.72 in value received by Sterling under its stipulation with Parkridge. CP 294–96. The order granting summary judgment against Xu and Chen would have a preclusive effect even if it had been paid or otherwise discharged after its entry on April 4, 2014. CP 166.

For years after that date, Sterling appears to have regarded the case against Xu and Chen as closed. In a separate lawsuit against Xu and Chen, Parkridge collected another \$5,224,375.35 from them, with fees and interest. CP 225. By contrast, Sterling made no attempt to enforce what its successor now claims to be an active and enforceable judgment against Xu and Chen.

Then, on November 12, 2021, Judgment Services, LLC filed a notice stating that it was the assignee of the trial court's

order granting summary judgment against Xu and Chen.

CP 234. A few days later, it filed a motion to "enter a Judgment with a Judgment Summary" because, as Judgment Services confessed, the original order was not styled as a judgment and did not include a judgment summary. CP 237–41.

Judgment Services submitted no evidence that the original order remained enforceable. The assignment from Sterling to Judgment Services was made "without recourse or warranty" and Judgment Services never submitted the associated agreement between them into evidence. CP 230. Judgment Services submitted no declaration—then or later—from anyone with personal knowledge. All of the declarations came from an attorney for Judgment Services, who does not claim to have been involved with the original lawsuit or the proceedings that resulted in the original order. *See* CP 248–96, 474–508, 640–62.

Although Judgment Services claimed that it was asking the court for "merely an administrative act," the proposed

judgment that it submitted would have required the exercise of substantial discretion by the trial court. Judgment Services asked the court to decide that interest had been accruing on the principal balance at 12 percent a year (CP 243) even though the original order said nothing about an award of interest (CP 166– 68). Judgment Services also behaved as if Sterling had received nothing of value on account of the obligations that were jointly owed to Sterling by Parkridge (as principal obligor) and Xu and Chen (as Parkridge's guarantors). The proposed judgment submitted by Judgment Services identified the principal judgment amount as \$676,214.42 (CP 243) without deducting the \$3,742,339.72 in value that Sterling received from Parkridge under their pre-trial stipulation (CP 171, 219).

Xu and Chen filed a timely opposition to Judgment
Services belated attempt to enforce the April 4, 2014 order.
CP 679. After several rounds of briefing on this and related matters, the court held that Parkridge's obligations to Sterling had been discharged in two ways. CP 835–44.

First, Sterling lost at trial and, pursuant to the pre-trial stipulation, dismissed its claims against Parkridge. CP 842. "[T]he purpose and effect of the dismissal was to effect a release of Sterling Bank's counterclaim in the event Parkridge prevailed on the deed of trust at trial." CP 842:16–17. Xu and Chen's liability to Sterling was derivative of Parkridge's liability to Sterling; they were merely guarantors.

Second, even if Parkridge, Xu, and Chen still owed \$676,214.42 to Sterling on April 4, 2014, Sterling received \$3,742,339.72 in value from Parkridge on April 16, 2014 as a consequence of Parkridge's agreement to limit its claims to title coverage. CP 841:15–24. "[A] party in Xu's position is entitled to credit for the value received [by] Sterling Bank. Here, Sterling Bank received at the least the value of the Loan Deficiency Claim in its settlement with Parkridge. Xu is therefore entitled to credit for the full amount of the amounts determined they owed in the Summary Judgment Order." CP 842:20–24.

Judgment Services appealed. The court of appeals reversed the superior court and remanded the case to address Judgment Services' motion to determine the applicable post-judgment interest rate. App'x 25. This petition for review follows.

VI. ARGUMENT

The court of appeals erred when it reversed the superior court's order acknowledging the discharge of an award entered against Xu and Chen. The court of appeals' opinion is irreconcilable with other decisions of the court of appeals and this Court because, as those other decisions universally hold, a creditor is only entitled to one performance.

In this case, after Sterling obtained an order of summary judgment against Xu and Chen—who were only guarantors—Sterling received valuable consideration from the principal obligor in the form of a release of claims worth \$3,742,339.72.

The superior court properly applied Washington law when it

held that this consideration discharged the judgment against Xu and Chen. The court of appeals went astray when it reversed the superior court.

If allowed to stand, the opinion of the court of appeals will create a conflict with decisions of this Court and other decisions of the court of appeals. It will also affect the public's substantial interest in protecting guarantors. They should not be required to pay more than necessary to make creditors whole.

If a creditor releases its principal obligor in exchange for consideration, then guarantors and other sureties are also released to the extent of "the value of the consideration for the release." Restatement (Third) of Suretyship & Guaranty § 39(c)(i) (Westlaw Mar. 2023 update). The rule is a sensible one, being derived from the general proposition that "a guarantor is discharged from liability 'to the extent the borrower satisfies the underlying obligation. This is because the creditor has the right to only one performance." *Serpanok Constr., Inc. v. Point Ruston, LLC*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 237, 250–

51, 495 P.3d 271 (2021), quoting Revocable Living Tr. of Strand v. Wel-Co Grp. Inc., 120 Wn. App. 828, 836–37, 86 P.3d 818 (2004).

Until the court of appeals decided this case, Washington courts agreed with and applied the Restatement's rule. This Court dismissed claims against a guarantor because of that rule in Kitsap County Credit Bureau, Inc. v. Richards, 52 Wn.2d 381, 382, 325 P.2d 292 (1958). A creditor sued a guarantor for the balance due on an open account. *Id.* at 381. At trial, a representative of the creditor admitted that it had accepted \$100 from the principal obligor to settle the obligations that he owed. *Id.* at 382. "Thus, applying the rule that a creditor's unconditional release of the principal debtor discharges the guarantor, the trial court properly dismissed the appellant's cause." *Id.* In so holding, this Court relied on the Restatement (First) of Security § 122, which is the predecessor to the Restatement (Third) of Suretyship & Guaranty § 39 and articulates substantially the same rule. *Id*.

Likewise, in MGIC Financial Corp. v. H.A. Briggs Co., 24 Wn. App. 1, 7, 600 P.2d 573 (1979), the court of appeals relied on the Restatement's rule to enforce a release. That case involved the owner of property subject to a deed of trust; the creditor tried to foreclose even though the creditor had settled with others and released them from liability. Id. at 3. The owner of the property was not a party to the settlement or a beneficiary of the release, but the court of appeals nevertheless held, "Equity requires that the surety, the Davises, likewise be released from the burden of having to forfeit their land to satisfy a debt for which the principal debtor already has been released." Id. at 7.

Finally, in two cases—Security State Bank v. Burk, 100 Wn. App. 94, 101–02, 995 P.2d 1272 (2000), and McChord Credit Union v. Parrish, 61 Wn. App. 8, 15, 809 P.2d 759 (1991)—the court of appeals held that a guarantor was entitled to insist on a reduction in the amount owed equal to the proceeds of the creditor's liquidation of its collateral,

notwithstanding waivers of suretyship defenses found in the text of the guarantees.

A guarantor is entitled to credit against his obligation to the principal obligor equal to the value of the consideration given for a release, whether that consideration consists of cash or other value.

Even when the consideration for the release is not in the same form as the underlying obligation, it would reduce the obligee's claim against the principal obligor to the same extent and, therefore, should also be treated as partial performance. Partial performance by the principal obligor discharges the secondary obligor to the extent of that performance. See § 1. Therefore, the secondary obligor is discharged to the extent of the value of any consideration for the release.

Restatement (Third) of Suretyship & Guaranty § 39 cmt. e.

Here, however, the court of appeals did not apply the

Restatement when it decided that "even if Sterling released

Parkridge of the obligation to pay the loan deficiency owing

under the promissory note, that release did not discharge Xu's

obligations as a guarantor under the separate personal guaranty." App'x 14.

The court of appeals first cited *Union Bank, N.A. v.*Blanchard, 194 Wn. App. 340, 378 P.3d 191 (2016), for the proposition that guarantees are enforced in accordance with their terms. That is true so far as it goes; but *Blanchard* is of little help in this situation because it did not involve a release of the principal obligor or the application of value given in exchange for that release. It also did not cite to or discuss the Restatement.

The court of appeals then cited *Fruehauf Trailer Co. v. Chandler*, 67 Wn.2d 704, 409 P.2d 651 (1966), which it characterized as upholding "a provision in a guaranty in which the guarantor waived the right to argue that a discharge or release of the principal obligor constituted a discharge or release of the guarantor." App'x 14–15. *Fruehauf* is not so easily categorized.

Fruehauf involved a strange hybrid between a guarantee and a direct promise. The instrument was not, as in this case, a straightforward guarantee of the payment of a debt. Instead, the guarantors promised that they would pay a penalty equal to 10 percent of the unpaid balance on a conditional sales contract. Id. at 710. When the principal obligor defaulted, the creditor repossessed the goods, then sued the guarantors by contending that "the instrument of guaranty was an independent agreement to pay 10 per cent of the total contract price due to it at the time of default." Id. at 707.

This Court applied the rule "that repossession and discharge of the original obligation is not a defense available to a third person who has expressly guaranteed to pay the creditor a fixed or determinable amount in the event of loss." *Id.* at 709. This Court did not repudiate the Restatement or its prior cases relying on the Restatement because the Restatement only applies to guarantees, not to independent undertakings to pay a

sum certain notwithstanding the discharge of the underlying debt.

The court of appeals' reading of *Fruehauf* is far too broad. If read as the court of appeals has, then creditors would routinely collect windfalls because of boilerplate in their guarantees. They could settle with principal obligors, accept non-cash consideration in exchange for a release, and then sue guarantors for the full amount of the debt as long as they include "a provision in a guaranty in which the guarantor waived the right to argue that a discharge or release of the principal debtor constituted a discharge or release of the guarantor." App'x 15.

Even if *Fruehauf* really does mean that creditors may release principal obligors and then sue guarantors for the same debt, the principal obligor still must give credit for the value of the consideration given in exchange for the release. This Court in *Fruehauf* reversed with instructions to the trial court to determine "the unpaid balance" of the obligation, and to enter

judgment accordingly. *Id.* at 710. The creditor was not awarded a windfall in excess of the sum payable, as Judgment Services is seeking here.

Neither Washington law nor the guarantee between Xu and Chen gives Judgment Services the right to such a windfall. Its predecessor, Sterling, freely dismissed its claims against Parkridge (the principal obligor) in exchange for \$3,742,339.72 of value. The court of appeals correctly assumed that this was tantamount to a release of the primary obligor. App'x 14.

Under the Restatement and Washington authorities citing it, the court of appeals should then have credited Xu and Chen with the value of the consideration received by Sterling in exchange for the release. By dismissing its claims against Parkridge, Sterling received a release that limited Parkridge's claims to title coverage. That release was worth \$3,742,339.72 to Sterling because that is what Parkridge won in the ensuing trial. The value of that consideration was more than sufficient to

satisfy the remaining obligation owed to Sterling, which was only \$676,217.42.

The court of appeals refused to give Xu and Chen any credit for the consideration received by Sterling from Parkridge, as it was required to do under section 39(c) of the Restatement. The reasons offered by the court of appeals are not consistent with this Court's precedents and other applicable law.

The court of appeals argued that Xu and Chen waived their suretyship defenses in the guarantee, citing *Fruehauf* and *Blanchard*. *Fruehauf* does not support such a result. Xu and Chen's guarantee did not require the payment of a specified amount even if Parkridge was released from liability. Xu and Chen only promised to pay "all obligations of the Borrower now or hereafter existing under the Loan Documents" and "all sums for which Borrower is now or hereafter liable to Lender." CP 642. That is different from *Fruehauf*, in which the creditor sought to enforce an independent agreement to pay a penalty rather than a straightforward guarantee of outstanding debts. 67

Wn.2d at 706. Moreover, the Court in *Fruehauf* remanded with instructions to determine the "unpaid balance," which necessarily implies a determination of the value that should have been credited against the obligation. *Id.* at 710.

Blanchard also does not support the court of appeals. That case says that suretyship waivers are generally enforceable, but it also says that guarantees should be enforced in accordance with their terms. 194 Wn. App. at 351–52. Xu and Chen only promised that they would pay what Parkridge actually owed. CP 642. They did not promise to pay more, or to pay amounts that Parkridge once owed but owes no longer. And Parkridge does not now owe any obligations to Sterling or its successor, Judgment Services, and is not liable for any sums, because Sterling chose to dismiss its claims against Parkridge in exchange for consideration that ended up being worth \$3,742,339.72.

The court of appeals takes issue with this, asserting that it could find "no basis in the record for attributing any value to

this provision of the stipulated judgment." App'x 20. The superior court did not abuse its discretion when it found otherwise. At the end of the trial between Parkridge and Sterling, the trial court entered a money judgment for Parkridge and against Sterling in the amount of \$3,742,339.72. CP 219. If not for Parkridge's release, Sterling would have been immediately responsible for paying the full amount owed, and to enforce that obligation, Parkridge could have executed on Sterling's assets. Because of the stipulated judgment, however, Parkridge released Sterling "from any further liability beyond its present title coverage." CP 171. This was a valuable boon to Sterling, and the best evidence of this is Sterling's decision to surrender its counterclaim against Parkridge in exchange. CP 171.

Sterling, at least, behaved as if its claims against Xu and Chen had been discharged, and this is further evidence of the effect of Sterling's release. The order on summary judgment against Xu and Chen (CP 166–68) was not incorporated into the

final judgment entered in the case (CP 218–21). Sterling did not bother to ask the court to add a judgment summary or have the order entered on the clerk's judgment roll, as would have been required for Sterling to enforce it. CP 239:1–6. No one tried to enforce the order against Xu and Chen for more than seven years. Judgment Services submitted no declaration from anyone with personal knowledge stating, in sum or substance, that Sterling believed that it retained rights against Xu and Chen. As the superior court correctly reasoned, reading this history as reflecting a discharge of Sterling's claims against Xu and Chen is "consistent with the action of the parties at the time, which is that nobody made any attempt to try and enforce this. And so it's pretty clear that that was what in fact the parties understood the effect of this agreement to be." RP 17:24–18:3 (Feb. 25, 2022).

The court of appeals also seems to have assumed that the burden is on Xu and Chen to produce evidence that they were discharged by the \$3,742,339.72 in value received from

Parkridge by Sterling. The Restatement says otherwise. If a creditor releases the primary obligor, the guarantors are released also unless "the terms of the release effect a preservation of the secondary obligor's recourse" or "the language or circumstances of the release otherwise show the obligee's intent to retain its claim" against the guarantor. Restatement (Third) of Suretyship & Guaranty § 39(b). When Sterling agreed to dismiss its claims against Parkridge, the terms of the release said nothing about preserving claims against Xu and Chen. CP 171. Nor do the circumstances suggest that Sterling believed it had preserved any claim against Xu and Chen; the final judgment did not incorporate claims against Xu and Chen (CP 218–21), and Sterling took no step to collect for more than seven years. Judgment Services submitted no direct evidence of Sterling's intentions, such as a declaration from anyone with personal knowledge. The assignment from Sterling to Judgment Services includes no representations or warranties from Sterling that the award remained enforceable. CP 230.

The court of appeals argues that Xu and Chen's liability could not have been discharged by Sterling's subsequent receipt of valuable consideration from Parkridge. App'x 20. That cannot be right because it implies that a creditor could collect more than it was owed just by suing obligors in separate actions and taking separate judgments. Creditors could multiply their recoveries because, according to the court of appeals, each judgment stands alone and no credit will be given to one judgment for payments made on another, even if the underlying debt is a joint and several obligation. The court of appeals cites no authority for this extraordinary proposition.

Finally, the court of appeals states that even if the law of suretyship gave relief to Xu and Chen to the extent of the value of the consideration received by Sterling in exchange for its release of Parkridge, then Sterling should still be able to enforce its claims against Xu and Chen because it sued them for fraud, not just on their guarantee. App'x 20. The order granting summary judgment against Xu and Chen did not distinguish

between amounts owed on the guarantee and amounts owed in tort. It is not possible to reduce the amount owed under the guarantee while leaving unimpaired amounts owed in tort because they are one and the same. They arise from the same nexus of facts. The guarantee acknowledges this because it states that Xu and Chen will guarantee Sterling against loss caused by fraud. CP 642. Sterling's losses from fraud are identical to its losses under the guarantee.

The principles governing tort claims and related releases are, in any event, the same as those applied by the Restatement. When Sterling gave Parkridge a release, Sterling's claim "against other persons is reduced by the amount paid pursuant to the agreement unless the amount paid was unreasonable at the time of the agreement in which case the claim shall be reduced by an amount determined by the court to be reasonable." RCW 4.22.060(2). Sterling received \$3,742,339.72 in value from Parkridge in exchange for dismissal of Sterling's claims, and so Sterling's claim against Xu and Chen must be

reduced by that amount. That was the superior court's conclusion, and it was right.

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