FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/1/2023 4:23 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101948-3

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STANLEY XU and NANLING CHEN, Appellants and Cross-Respondents

v.

JUDGMENT SERVICES, LLC, as assignee of STERLING SAVINGS BANK, Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

## JUDGMENT SERVICES, LLC'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

John A. McIntosh, WSBA #43113
Jacob Rosenblum, WSBA #42629
Schweet Linde & Rosenblum, PLLC
575 South Michigan Street
Seattle, WA 98108
(206) 381-0118
Attorneys for Judgment Services, LLC

### **

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

#### 1. Standard for Petition for Review

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition

involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b). None of these apply here.

## 2. The Xus' do not cite any caselaw inconsistent with the Court of Appeals' decision.

The Xus' Petition for Review cites four cases that, unlike here, either do not involve an express waiver from the surety like the Xus' Guaranty or they implicate Article 9 of the UCC because the collateral was personal property (see, RCW 62A.9A-109); whereas here, the collateral was real property and the UCC does not apply): Kitsap County Credit Bureau, Inc. v. Richards, 52 Wn.2d 381 (1958) and MGIC Financial Corp. v. H.A. Briggs Co., 24 Wn. App. 1 (1979) do not address or involve a waiver and neither are inconsistent with Blanchard or otherwise apply to this case. Security State Bank v. Burk, 100 Wn. App. 94 (2000) and McChord Credit Union v. Parrish, 61 Wn. App. 8 (1991) are substantively distinguishable because, as both cases point out, they implicate Article 9 of the UCC because the collateral was personal property. The Court of Appeals' decision is not inconsistent with any of these cases.

## 3. There is no double recovery because the Sterling Judgment has never been paid.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that there was no double recovery or windfall to Sterling or Judgment Services because the Deficiency was never paid: 1. Sterling never recovered the [Deficiency]

from Parkridge because the court invalidated the promissory note and deed of trust based on Sterling's failure to discover Xu's fraudulent conduct; 2. Sterling did not recover the loan deficiency from the proceeds of the receiver's sale; and 3. Sterling did not recover the loan deficiency from Xu. Therefore, as the Court of Appeals held, there is no factual basis in this record from which to conclude that enforcement of the summary judgment against Xu [the Sterling Judgment] would cause a "double recovery." Petition Appendix at p. 13.

## 4. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the Xus waived any defense for a release of the principal obligor.

The Court of Appeals questioned the trial court's finding that the Stipulated Judgment constituted a release of Sterling's Deficiency claim against Parkridge, but ultimately held that it was unnecessary to resolve that issue because, even assuming it was a release, as a matter of law, that did not discharge the Xus from the Deficiency because they had waived that defense. This finding is supported by well-established Washington caselaw. A guarantor's waiver of defenses is enforceable according to its terms. *Union Bank, N.A. v. Blanchard*, 194 Wn. App. 340, 352, 378 P.3d 191 (2016). "Just as guaranties may be absolute and unconditional, so may they waive claims and defenses. Waiver provisions in guaranties are uniformly upheld and enforced by Washington courts, including on

summary judgment" Id. (citations omitted).

The Xus do not dispute that they signed a Guaranty that waived the right to claim that their obligation to pay Sterling was discharged by operation of law when a trial court invalidated the underlying promissory note. The Court of Appeals correctly held the waiver is valid.

# 5. Applying the Restatement (Third) of Suretyship and Guaranty, § 39 (2021) does not discharge or reduce the Sterling Judgment

Acknowledging the effect of their waiver, the Xus argue that Sterling received consideration in exchange for the alleged "release." The Court of Appeals properly rejected this argument for three reasons. First, there is no evidence that Parkridge paid Sterling anything of value to avoid having to pay the Deficiency. Second, there is no authority that a guarantor's liability already reduced to judgment can be discharged by subsequent litigation between a creditor and a primary debtor. And, finally, because of the fraud findings in the Sterling Judgment, the Restatement of Suretyship would have no effect on a secondary debtor's liability based on their own fraudulent conduct.

In addition to the above reasons, the "consideration" under the Restatement must come from the <u>principal obligor or someone in privity</u> with the <u>principal obligor</u>. *Allen v. Yates*, 870 A.2d 39, 48 (2005, Dist. Of Columbia Court of Appeals). It is undisputed here that Chicago Title paid

the entire Parkridge Judgment, not Parkridge or anyone in privity to Parkridge. The Xus are not entitled to get credit under the Restatement from any payment made by Chicago Title. Parkridge did not pay Sterling anything- the Parkridge Judgment was a judgment in favor of Parkridge against Sterling.

# 6. The Court of Appeals correctly found that RCW 4.22.060(2) does not apply here because there is no contributory fault between Parkridge and the Xus.

RCW 4.22.060 was enacted as part of the tort reform act in 1981 to provide a means to allocate liability among joint tortfeasors. *Bird v. Best Plumbing Group, LLC*, 175 Wn. 2d 756, 766, 287 P.3d 551 (2012); *Brewer v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 127 Wn. 2d 512, 522, 901 P.2d 297 (1995)(RCW 4.22.060 creates a right of contribution between joint tortfeasors). Under RCW 4.22.060, a released person must be a person liable for contribution. "Contribution" is "[a] tortfeasor's right to collect from others responsible for the same tort after the tortfeasor has paid more than his or her proportionate share, the shares being determined as a percentage of fault." *Mazon v. Krafchick*, 158 Wn. 2d 440, 451, 144 P.3d 1168 (2006). RCW 4.22.060 does not apply to breach of contract damages or damages caused by intentional torts. *See, Tegman v. Accident & Medical Investigations, Inc.*, 150 Wn. 2d 102, 119, 75 P.3d 497 (2003).

Here, the Sterling Judgment against the Xus arises from a breach of

the Guaranty and fraud, not negligence. RCW 4.22 does not apply to breach of contract claims or intentional torts like fraud. Furthermore, Parkridge and the Xus are not joint-tortfeasors. The Xus are the only ones that have any tort liability in this case. Joint and several liability must exist before a defendant has a right to contribution from another defendant. *Kottler v. State*, 136 Wn. 2d 437, 442, 963 P.2d 834 (1998).

Furthermore, the Xus cannot establish the essential elements for an offset on the face of RCW 4.22.060(b). Sterling did not enter into a "release, covenant not to sue, covenant not to enforce judgment, or similar agreement" with Parkridge. The Stipulated Judgment, as discussed above, merely agrees to dismiss (without prejudice) Sterling's counterclaim against Parkridge if Parkridge was successful at trial (which would have been the outcome regardless of the Stipulated Judgment). An agreement to dismiss a case (without prejudice) conditioned on the outcome of a full trial is not a release under RCW 4.22.060(b).

#### 7. Sterling did not release Parkridge from its Deficiency claim

Judgment Services preserves its argument that, as a matter of law, the Stipulated Judgment is not a release. Any such finding that it is a release is contradicted by the fact that a trial on the very claim supposedly released was necessary as a condition precedent for the agreement to take effect.

The sole reason that Sterling does not have a deficiency claim

against Parkridge is, not because it was released, but because the trial court concluded that Sterling's Note and Deed of Trust with Parkridge were invalid because Xu fraudulently executed them.<sup>4</sup> The Xus are now attempting to improperly benefit from their fraud. Said fraud was the primary reason Sterling Savings was not able to retain the Disputed Proceeds vis-à-vis Parkridge. It is also the reason the Xus remain liable for the Deficiency.

The Stipulated Judgment between Sterling and Parkridge, instead, merely set forth how the parties would proceed depending on the outcome of trial and conditioned dismissal (without prejudice) of Sterling's claim only in the event Parkridge won at trial, which would have resulted in a dismissal of Sterling's claim regardless of the Stipulated Judgment. The relevant part of the Stipulated Judgment states that:

The parties agree that if the Court finds in favor of Parkridge on its claim against Sterling and enters judgment for Parkridge, the Court should also dismiss Sterling's counterclaim against Parkridge and Parkridge releases Sterling from any further liability beyond its present title coverage.

JS CP 169-172.

Furthermore, a stipulated settlement agreement is a contract between parties and is considered it under the common law of contracts.

16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Sterling Savings Bank v. Xu, 190 Wn. App. 1017 at \*4 (2015).

Condon v. Condon, 177 Wn.2d 150, 162, 298 P.3d 86 (2013). Under the objective manifestation theory of contracts, the parties' intent is based on the objective manifestations of the agreement. Condon, 177 Wn.2d at 162. Here, the Stipulated Judgment is not ambiguous. It does not release, discharge, or modify in any way the Sterling Judgment against the Xus and the Xus and the Sterling Judgment are never even mentioned in the Stipulated Judgment.

The Disputed Proceeds debt reflected in the Parkridge Judgment is separate and distinct from the Deficiency debt in the Sterling Judgment. The Stipulated Judgment has no effect on the Sterling Judgment and a ruling that it does is contrary to law. The fact that Sterling and its successors did not immediately attempt to enforce the Sterling Judgment has no bearing on the intent of the parties to the Stipulated Judgment.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Judgment Services requests that the Xus' Petition for Review be denied.

Undersigned counsel certified that this Answer contains 4,206 words.